Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-18-2016

Christy v. Grasmick Produce Appellant's Brief Dckt. 43968

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- 1. NATURE OF THE CASE: Appellant, Jimmy L. Christy, Jr., ("Christy") has appealed from the Decision and Order of the Industrial Commission, filed January 7, 2016 ("Commission Order" or "Com. Ord."). The Commission Order was itself issued on an appeal from the Decision of Appeals Examiner Judge Richmond, dated September 18, 2015 ("Examiner's Decision" or "Ex. Dec.").
- 2. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS: Prior to the entry of the Examiner's Decision, there were two hearings conducted by Judge Richmond: the first on July 28, 2015 and the second on September 16, 2015. The first hearing was terminated because the Claims Investigator, Jennifer Roop, had not previously considered all of the earnings records from Grasmick (Christy's previous employer), nor had she received or reviewed Christy's information and position.

 Judge Richmond then terminated the first hearing to allow Ms. Roop to review the information she did not have previously, with any new hearing based upon a new record (Tr 7.28.15, p. 54).

 His Order of Remand dismissed the appeal and remanded the matter back to Ms. Roop "for further evaluation and adjudication." The hearing was never completed, and all parties were clearly advised that after the new determination and any new appeal would be based on a new record. (Tr. 7.28.15, p. 54, L. 9-18).

¹ There were problems with service of all of the materials on Christy due to his relocation. Mr. Christy had moved and did not receive the requests for information from Ms. Roop.

Ms. Roop made a second Eligibility Determination (Ex. Finding of Fact # 13)² from which Request for Appeals Hearing was submitted, (Exhibit pp. 81-85). This resulted in the second hearing of September 16. The Notice of that hearing is also an essential part of the record before this Court, as it contains the exhibits admitted and used at the hearing, including Ms. Roop's various determinations. They are not marked with traditional exhibit numbers/letters, but rather are referred to by page in the Notice of Hearing itself. The Eligibility Determination of August 12, 2015, for example, is "Exhibit pp. 75-79."

Ms. Roop determined that the Claimant "wilfully failed to accurately report his gross earnings each week when he filed his claims." (Exhibit, p. 75; Ex. Finding of Fact #20). Her Summary of Facts (Exhibit p. 75) asserted that Christy "reported what he had been paid even though the instructions on the weekly claim reporting states to report gross earnings before any deductions." She concluded that Christy "withheld this information in an attempt to obtain unemployment insurance benefits for which he was not eligible." Ms. Roop therefore assessed a penalty of \$1,244.75 and an overpayment of \$4,987.00, for a total due of \$6,231.75. Christy was also barred from submitting further unemployment claims until the overpayment, penalties and interest were paid.

3. STATEMENT OF FACTS: The only witnesses were Roop and Christy. Since there are two hearing transcripts, they will be designated by date; i.e., "Tr 7.28.15" or "Tr. 9.16.15."

² The Examiner and the Commission both entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. They will be differentiated by "Ex." for Examiner, and "Com." for Commission.

Jennifer Roop testimony:

A. JULY 28 HEARING: Judge Richmond conducted the direct examination of Ms. Roop. She conducted a "cross-match audit" (Tr. 7.28.15, p. 20, L. 3-11). She mailed a letter to Christy but receiving no response (see footnote 1), she proceeded to enter her determination on June 24, 2015. (Tr. 7.28.15, p. 20, L. 15-20). Her decision (Tr. 7.28.15, p. 21, L. 6-10) was that earnings were not reported in full, and benefits "were I guess fraudulently overpaid . . ."

She then confirmed that it was <u>gross</u> earnings they wanted reported, and was asked how the applicant would know which was sought (Tr. 7.28.15, p. 21, L. 25, p. 22, L. 1-2). She responded by referring to Exhibit p. 13 (Tr. 7.28.15, p. 22, L. 24 to p. 23, L. 1-4), and stating that "down towards the bottom on the left, hopefully down there it says reporting work and earnings." She also stated at p. 23, L. 12-16, that "the question when it pops out if you say yes when it asks you your earnings, it also says on there before deductions." That was admittedly not on the Exhibit, which was page 17.

On cross-examination, she was asked about Exhibit page 17; specifically, "where does it say gross?" (Tr. 7.28.15, p. 26, L. 3) and replied that it doesn't show it on the exhibit (p. 26, L. 4-5). She admitted that the document was not part of the record (p. 26, L. 10-11).

She was then asked about her determination that the "claimant willfully made a false statement" and specifically, "What false statement did he willfully make?" (Tr., 7.28.15, p. 27, L. 23 through p. 28, L. 2). She considered that he failed to "fully report his earnings" which was "failing to report a material fact." (Tr. 7.28.15, p. 28, L. 7-12). Yet she conceded she never got a

chance to actually talk to Christy (p. 28, L. 13-18). This was before she ever received any correspondence from, or spoke with, the undersigned (p. 28, L. 23 through p. 29, L. 3).

B. SEPTEMBER 26 HEARING: On her direct examination conducted by Judge Richmond, she reviewed the records provided by the employer, and recalculated the weekly earnings based on the "Sunday through Saturday calendar" used by the Department. (Tr 9.16.15, p. 11, L. 19-23). She then made the new decision on August 12, 2015. (Tr 9.16.15, p. 12, L. 1-3).

On cross-examination, however, she confirmed that she had still never spoken with Christy. (Tr 9.16.15, p. 14, L. 5-8) Yet she admitted that she made a decision that there was fraud involved. (Tr 9.16.15, p. 14, L. 9-25). Interestingly, she also confirmed "I'm not saying that he willfully – or that he maliciously did that . . ." (Tr 9.16.15, p. 14, L. 19-20). Moreover, she stated it was her standard that fraud occurs when "failing to provide accurate information as far as the department is concerned." (Tr 9.16.15, p. 15 L. 9-10).

The exhibits include a pamphlet, "Idaho Labor Unemployment Insurance Claimant Benefit Rights, Responsibilities, and Filing Instructions." It begins on Exhibit page 3 of 88 and continues (in English) to page 7 of 88, and is reduced to four pages per page (the page number on the pamphlet is at the bottom center). The exhibits also include portions of a slide show which covers Exhibit pages 12-14 of 88.

Ms. Roop remembered Christy's July 28, 2015, testimony. In that hearing, he testified that he went to the Department's "Water Tower Office" in Meridian concerning the reporting of

his income during the unemployment period. He testified that he was told to "report what he got." (Tr 9.16.15, p. 15, L. 13-24). She confirmed that the recipients are advised in several places in the pamphlet that if they had problems with the required reporting, the claimants are supposed to go to the Department or to the local office. See Tr 9.16.15, pp. 15-17.

Ms. Roop's notes also confirm that on June 3, 2015, Christy had received her first letter asserting a potential overpayment, and his response to her by a phone message was that "he doesn't understand because he had people in the office help him." In her testimony (Tr 9.16.15, p. 20, L. 4-14) she assumed he was referring to the Water Tower office.

Beginning on Tr 9.16.15, p. 21, L. 23, Ms. Roop was asked where Mr. Christy committed *fraud* on the Department. On the next page (p. 22), beginning at line 6, she then disavowed that definition; it wasn't really "fraud," but was more "basically failing to provide accurate information or misrepresenting on the facts that are material to – to the claim." (Tr 9.16.15, p. 22, L. 6-11).

However, when asked what evidence in the record showed that Mr. Christy *wilfully submitted false information*, she could not do that. While she said that the questions "repeatedly" told them to report their gross earnings, the word "gross" did not appear in the exhibits. (Tr 9.16.15, p. 22, L. 12-25). Rather, she contends that the missing "pop out" was the item which did that. She testified to the "pop out" in her June 28 testimony, as discussed infra.

But amazingly, the "pop out" was <u>still</u> not present in the record. She was asked the same question as in June-"Where is the word gross?" (Tr., 9.16.15, p. 22, L. 24) and again confirmed

that it was not in the record (p. 22, L. 25 through p. 23, L. 8. She conceded she should have obtained a copy of the pop out for the record (L. 7-8).

Ms. Roop was asked about Mr. Christy's consistent position that he believed he was doing what he was told to do, and confirmed that was the position. (Tr. 9.16.15, p. 23, L. 11-21). While she claims she did not disregard that position, she simply felt that "there is plenty of information available' to provide proper information (L. 19-21).

She also reviewed and authenticated notes from the Department's IUS system (Tr 9.16.15, p. 18, L. 10-25; p. 19, L. 1-13.). The notes themselves are located at Exhibit page 40-41. The notes show that Christy did contact the department in mid-December concerning issues with reporting and calculation of his earnings as well as his claim status. (Exhibit p. 40, date 12/19/14)

When Ms. Roop was asked if she discounted any possibility that Mr. Christy simply made a mistake, (Tr 9.16.15, p. 25, L. 13-25) she said that she did not discount it. In fact, she confirmed it, stating "I do believe that," but then said that in her opinion there was plenty of information to tell him the contrary. She then stated that he should have checked every week, (Tr 9.16.15, p. 26, L. 1-3). And again, albeit reluctantly, she confirmed that Mr. Christy did make a mistake and that a mistake was not fraudulent. (Tr 9.16.15, p. 26, L. 14–p. 27, L. 4)

<u>Jimmy Christy Testimony:</u>

A. JULY 28 HEARING: On direct by Judge Richmond, Christy confirmed that he opened his claim on or about December 10, 2014 (Tr, 7.28.15, p. 43, L. 21 through p. 44, L. 6).

At that time, he confirmed that he did not understand the website, and a "male that assisted me with the programming." (Tr., 7.28.15, p. 44, L. 7-16). He testified at length about the discussions with the "employee at Idaho Labor;" Christy had his pay stubs from Grasmick, and "the time period was off." (Tr., p. 45, L. 2-15).

From the start of the claims procedure, he testified as to his confusion with the website and the instructions. He was originally confused about the difference in the dates used by Grasmick for its pay period (p. 45, L. 24 to p. 46, L. 2). Judge Richmond reviewed the contact notes, and saw the Department's notes about conversations with Christy on December 19. (Tr., 7.28.15, p. 46, L. 8-24). He also confirmed that he did not recall the "drop down" menu (p. 48, L. 22 through p. 49, L. 1). The record of his testimony was consistent that he simply was "just confused with it" (the website) and was confused "every time I read the website" (Tr. 7.28.15, p. 47, L. 25 through p. 48, L. 7.)

At this juncture, Grasmick's representatives interjected, pointing out that they had just emailed the judge and the undersigned a document showing "when Mr. Christy clocked in and clocked out" showing that he regularly worked on Sundays. (Tr., 7.28.15, p. 49, L. 13-21). Judge Richmond then suggested to all that this hearing be terminated to allow Ms. Roop to review all of the new evidence and make a new determination.

B. SEPTEMBER 16 HEARING: Again, Christy first testified about the trip to the Department's Water Tower office between Christmas and New Years, 2014. (Tr 9.16.15, p. 30, L. 19–p. 32, L. 15) He had questions about the method of reporting and the pay periods, and met Page -7-

with "John" at the Water Tower location. Mr. Christy identified him as being in his mid-50's. The original purpose of the visit was to resolve the confusion about the time frames to be used; Grasmick's pay period was not the same as that used by the Department. (Tr 9.16.15, p. 32, L. 8-13)

However, Christy and "John" discussed about <u>what</u> he was to report. (Tr 9.16.15, p. 32 L. 16--p. 33, L. 5) .Christy understood John's advise to be to report <u>what he received.</u> After that date, he reported "what my check was" because that's what he thought he was supposed to do. (Tr. 9.16.15, p. 33, L. 17-25) He further confirmed that he never intended to misrepresent his earnings.

Concerning the information in the handbook, Christy had questions about its meaning. He testified that he has problems with numbers and words, akin to dyslexia (Tr 9.16.15, p. 34, L. 11-25). He has lifelong reading difficulties. (Tr 9.16.15, L. 1-8). He took a zero hour special class called "RR Studies" to help his comprehension when his family lived in Chicago (Tr 9.16.15, p. 35, L. 7-18). His native language, he said, is "Tagalog," a Phillipine language. He did not learn to speak English until age 7 (Tr 9.16.15, p. 35, L. 19–p. 36, L. 3).

Judge Richmond's Decision:

On September 18, 2015, Judge Richmond entered his written Decision of Appeals

Examiner, containing findings of fact and conclusions of law which held that Christy willfully
made a false statement or willfully failed to report a material fact in order to obtain benefits. His
Findings included:

- (4) Christy was mailed the Claimant Benefit Rights Booklet;
- (9) Department issued the first eligibility determination after Christy did not respond to the Department's return call (8);
- (12) Grasmick provided time records to the Department and the case was remanded back for further review and a new eligibility determination;
- (16) Christy did contact the Department requesting direction on how to report his wages;
- (18) Christy testified he was told by a Department employee that he is to report what he receives in wages;
- (20) Department determined Christy willfully failed to accurately report his gross earnings each week when he filed his claim;
- (21) Christy was told how to report when he spoke with the Department on December 19, 2014;
- (22) Christy thought he was reporting accurately and to the best of his ability.

Judge Richmond cited <u>Meyer v. Skyline Mobile Homes</u>, 99 Idaho 77, 589 P.2d 89 (1979):

"Willfully" implies simply a purpose or willingness to commit the act or make the omission referred to. It does not require any intent to violate law, in the sense of having an evil or corrupt motive or intent. It does imply a conscious wrong, and may be distinguished from an act maliciously or corruptly done in that it does not necessarily imply an evil mind, but is more nearly synonymous with "intentionally," "designedly," and therefore not accidental.

He then concluded that Christy did seek clarification from the Department on how to report his wages, but still, he willfully made false statements or representations in order to receive his benefits. He therefore upheld the initial determination. Christy, especially in light of that bizarre conclusion from the facts and law cited, appealed to the Industrial Commission.

Industrial Commission Decision:

After the matter was submitted on the record and briefs to the Commission, its Decision and Order was issued on January 7, 2016. The Commission conducted a de novo review of the record (Com. Ord. P. 2), and thereafter entered their own findings of fact and conclusions of law:

- (1) Christy started working for Grasmick part-time on December 11, 2014. He worked Sunday, Thursday and Friday.
- (2) His pay period with Grasmick was Monday through Sunday, with paychecks on Friday.
- (3) Christy went to the Department's office in Meridian (which is the "Water Tower" office) to file his claim. A consultant assisted him "in navigating the process over the computer."
- (4) Christy returned to the Water Tower office to complete his resume. While there, he "purportedly" asked for clarification about how to report his income, and maintains he was instructed to report "what he got."
- (5) On December 19, 2014, the Claimant Specialist told Christy had he had to figure his earnings for Sunday-Saturday as a work week, rather than the Monday-Sunday period.

The Commission then determined that Christy "wilfully" made a false statement or failed to report a material fact. (Com. Ord., p. 4). This determination was made even though they cited the standard from Meyer v. Skyline Mobile Homes, 99 Idaho 754 (1979) that the Idaho Legislature "intended to disqualify those claimants who purposely, intentionally, consciously or knowingly fail to report a material fact, *not those whose omission is accidental because of*

negligence, misunderstanding or other cause." (Emphasis added). (Com. Ord., p. 5) They seemingly tried to avoid this by asserting that Christy "knew or should have known" what information was sought and did otherwise, relying on the "slide show" and the "pamphlet." They then make the unwarranted and unsubstantiated assumption that there was a "probability that, given the information available to Claimant, he did not know what IDOL was asking, and then, deliberately elected not to seek clarification." (Com. Ord., p. 5)

To the point on Christy's "trouble with numbers and words," they disregard them because, in their opinion, it should have been "brought to the forefront at the inception of these proceedings." (Com. Ord., p. 6). The opinion continues on in this vein, to be discussed in more detail infra.

The Commission then concluded that Christy had "wilfully misstated" his earnings "for the weeks ending January 10, 2015, January 17,2015, January 31, 2015, and February 14,2015 through March 28, 2015." They then asserted he had to repay for the weeks from January 3, 2015 through March 28, 2015.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

In the Notice of Appeal, several issues were designated. They can be condensed and restated.

A. The Decision wrongfully determined that claimant "willfully made a false statement or willfully failed to report a material fact in order to obtain benefits. The evidence fails to show that Appellant "purposely, intentionally, consciously or knowingly" failed to report

facts accurately instead of doing so by "negligence, misunderstanding or other cause." The Commission's findings in this case are not supported by substantial, competent evidence as required by law. In fact, as they drafted their Findings of Facts, the Commission basically imposes strict liability, which is contrary to the decisions of this Court.

- B. There is no evidence whatever in the record to show that Christy had a motive to falsely report "in order to obtain benefits."
- C. The Decision wrongfully determined that Claimant-Appellant was provided written instructions on how to complete his claim reports "in the form of a slide show he reviewed before he completed his application for benefits."
- D. The Decision erroneously disregarded Appellant's learning disability, which was not in dispute. Rather, the Commission somehow felt "that evidence should have been brought to the forefront at the inception of these proceedings."
- E. The Judge found that Claimant thought he was reporting accurately and to the best of his ability. Therefore, the Commission's Conclusions found are erroneous.
- F. Claimant's testimony upon which the Judge made the determination that Claimant was told how to report when he spoke with the Department on December 19, 2014, is unimpeached. Therefore, the Conclusions found are erroneous. The corollary, the determination by the Judge that the "Claimant's assertion that he was reporting his net wages is not supported by the record," is likewise erroneous when considering the uncontradicted testimony in the record.

- G. The determination that the Claimant "willfully made false statements or representations" and the conclusions that this was determined by the preponderance of the evidence completely fails to recognize that Claimant has learning disabilities, is not a native English speaker/writer/reader, and was confused by the instructions on the website from the start.
- H. The determination that Claimant had a "purpose or willingness to commit the act or make the omission referred to" is not supported by the record.

ATTORNEYS' FEES ON APPEAL

Christy asserts that reasonable attorneys' fees are awardable in this case under Idaho Code §12-117(1) and (2). This will be discussed in detail infra.

ARGUMENT:

A. STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

Before proceeding with the other points of analysis, Christy suggests that this separate topic is extremely applicable to this appeal and should be discussed.

1. "Substantial, Competent Evidence:" There are innumerable cases where the Supreme Court has announced that it "will not disturb the factual findings if they are supported by substantial and competent evidence. <u>Laundry v. Franciscan Health Care Ctr.</u>, 125 Idaho 279, 281, 869 P.2d 1374, 1376 (1994). *Substantial and competent evidence* consists of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." The appellate body "exercises free review over questions of law. Id.; Idaho Const. art V, §9." <u>Qualman v. State</u>, 129 Idaho 92, 922 P.2d 389 (1996).

But that does not end the discussion. Rather, *this* Court must review the Commission's decision to see if that test was actually met. In <u>Local 1494 v. City of Coeur d'Alene</u>, 99 Idaho 630, 586 P.2d 1346 (1978), the Supreme Court discussed the test for determining what constitutes "substantial, competent evidence" in the appeal of an administrative agency's action. This Court noted that:

The "substantial evidence rule" is said to be a "middle position" which precludes a de novo hearing but which nonetheless requires a serious review which goes beyond the mere ascertainment of procedural regularity. Id. at 633, 586 P.2d at 1349. Such a review requires more than a mere "scintilla" of evidence in support of the agency's determination, id. at 634, 586 P.2d at 1350, though "something less than the weight of the evidence." Consolo v. FMC, 383 U.S. 607, 620, 86 S.Ct. 1018, 1026, 16 L.Ed.2d 131 (1966). "Put simply," we wrote, "the substantial [competent] evidence rule requires a court to determine 'whether [the agency's] findings of fact are reasonable.' 4 Davis, *Administrative Law Text* § 29.01-02 at 525-530." Local 1494, supra, 99 Idaho at 634, 586 P.2d at 1350; see also Universal Camera Corp. v. National Labor Relations Board, 340 U.S. 474, 477, 71 S.Ct. 456, 459, 95 L.Ed. 456 (1951) (Substantial evidence is "such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.' Consolidated Edison Co. v. National Labor Relations Board, 305 U.S. 197, 229, 59 S.Ct. 206, 217, 83 L.Ed. 126.") (cited with approval in Local 1494, supra).

This Court expanded and clarified its position in <u>Idaho State Ins. Fund v. Hunnicutt</u>, 110 Idaho 257, 715 P.2d 927 (Idaho 1985), in which it held that:

In deciding whether the agency's findings of fact were reasonable, reviewing courts should *not* "read only one side of the case and, if they find any evidence there," sustain the administrative action and ignore the record to the contrary. Universal Camera, supra, 340 U.S. at 481, 71 S.Ct. at 460; quoted in Local 1494, supra, 99 Idaho [261] at 634, 586 P.2d at 1350. Certainly reviewing courts should not "displace the [agency's] choice between two fairly conflicting views, even though the court would justifiably have made a different choice had the matter been before it de novo." Universal Camera, supra, 340 U.S. at 488, 71 S.Ct. at 464; accord, Swisher, supra, 98 Idaho at 570, 569 P.2d at 915; Ajax Paving Industries, Inc. v. National Labor Relations Board, 713 F.2d 1214, 1217

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