Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-13-2016

Christy v. Grasmick Produce Respondent's Brief Dckt. 43968

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Standards of Review

In appeals from the Commission, the Idaho Supreme Court's jurisdiction is limited "to questions of law." Idaho Const., Art. V, § 9.

This Court is "constitutionally compelled to defer to the Commission's findings of fact where supported by substantial and competent evidence." Locker v. How Soel, Inc., 151 Idaho 696, 699, 263 P.3d 750, 753 (2011) (emphasis added), quoting Teffer v. Twin Falls School Dist. No. 411, 102 Idaho 439, 439, 631 P.2d 610, 610 (1981); see also, I.C. § 72-732(1) (Commission findings must be upheld unless they "are not based on any substantial competent evidence").

"Substantial and competent evidence is relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion." Cox v. Hollow Leg Pub and Brewery, 144 Idaho 154, 156, 158 P.3d 930, 932 (2007), quoting, Edwards v. Independence Services, Inc., 140 Idaho 912, 914, 104 P.3d 954, 956 (2004).

This Court "will not re-weigh the evidence or consider whether it would have reached a different conclusion from the evidence presented." *Id.* In addition, all facts and inferences are viewed in the light most favorable to the facts found by the Commission, and its determinations as to credibility of witnesses and weight of evidence will be upheld unless clearly erroneous. <u>Bell v. Idaho Dept. of Labor</u>, 157 Idaho 744, 746-747, 339 P.3d 1148, 1150-1151 (2014).

Finally, pure questions of law presented on appeal are freely reviewed.

McNulty v. Sinclair Oil Corporation, 152 Idaho 582, 585, 272 P.3d 554, 557 (2012).

II.

Substantial and Competent Evidence Supports the Commission's Finding That Christy Willfully Misrepresented Material Facts When He Underreported his Earnings in Weekly Reports to the Idaho Department of Labor

A claimant has the burden of establishing statutory eligibility for unemployment benefits even in those cases involving claims of willful misrepresentation. McNulty, 152 Idaho at 585, 272 P.3d at 557. The personal eligibility conditions of the Employment Security Law provide that a claimant is ineligible for unemployment benefits if "he has willfully made a false statement or willfully failed to report a material fact in order to obtain benefits." I.C. § 72-1366(12).

This Court has long held that "willful"

... implies simply a purpose or willingness to commit the act or make the omission referred to. It does not require any intent to violate law, in the sense of having an evil or corrupt motive or intent. It does imply a conscious wrong, and may be distinguished from an act maliciously or corruptly done, in that it does not necessarily imply an evil mind, but is more nearly synonymous with "intentionally," "designedly," "without lawful excuse," and therefore not accidental.

McNulty, 152 Idaho at 586, 272 P.3d at 558 (emphasis added), quoting Meyer v. Skyline Mobile Homes, 99 Idaho 754, 761, 589 P.2d 89, 96 (1979). The "willful" standard of the Employment Security Law is something more than an accident resulting from "negligence, misunderstanding or other cause" and something less

than an allegation of actual fraud in other contexts. Cox v. Hollow Leg Pub and Brewery, 144 Idaho at 157, 159, 158 P.3d at 933, 935.

Significant to the case at bar, case law makes clear that a finding of willfulness will be sustained where the claimant "was properly informed of his reporting obligation and his alleged misunderstanding lacked credibility."

Bringman v. New Albertsons, Inc., 157 Idaho 71, 76-77, 334 P.3d 262, 267-268 (2014), reh'g denied (Sept. 30, 2014), citing McNulty, 152 Idaho at 587, 272 P.3d at 559. See also Current v. Haddons Fencing, Inc., 152 Idaho 10, 13–14, 266 P.3d 485, 488–89 (2011) (observing that Meyer v. Skyline Mobile Homes, supra, held that the "factfinder may consider the claimant's explanation unworthy of belief").

A fact is "material" under I.C. § 72-1366(12) "if it is relevant to the determination of a claimant's right to benefits; it need not actually affect the outcome of that determination." Meyer, 99 Idaho at 760, 589 P.2d at 95; accord, McNulty, supra. "In short, the test for materiality is relevance." Bringman v. New Albertsons, Inc., 157 Idaho at 75, 334 P.3d at 266.

The gross wages earned and hours worked by a claimant are material because they can directly affect the availability and amount of unemployment benefits. Bell v. Idaho Dep't of Labor, 157 Idaho at 747, 339 P.3d at 1151; McNulty, 152 Idaho at 586, 272 P.3d at 558. In holding that gross earnings and hours worked are "material facts," this Court in Bell described the relevance of gross earnings and hours worked under applicable statutes:

Idaho Code section 72–1312(1) conditions the availability of benefits for a particular week on the claimant working less than full-time

during that week. Idaho Code sections 72–1312(4) and 72–1367(4) tie the benefits to which a claimant is entitled during a particular week, if any, to the gross wages the claimant earned during that week.

Bell, 157 Idaho at 747, 339 P.3d at 1151.

Substantial and competent evidence supports the finding that Christy willfully made false statements and willfully failed to report material facts in his weekly earnings reports to IDOL.

Christy was made aware of his reporting requirements. The slide show presentation, the Department's booklet entitled, "Claimant Benefit Rights, Responsibilities and Filing Instructions," and the confirmation page from Christy's on-line application all explained to Christy that he was to report his gross wages (before deductions).

Although Christy's claimed conversation with an IDOL employee named "John" is dubious, the Commission correctly pointed out that, even if these claimed facts were accepted as true, they did not explain the incorrect earnings claimed by Christy in the bulk of the reporting weeks at issue.

It is evident that the Commission did not find Christy's testimony to be credible. The record supports its findings that Christy was made aware of his reporting obligations and that Christy willfully misstated or omitted material facts (i.e., his true gross earnings) when reporting his earnings to the Department. These underreported earnings were "material facts" because they were relevant in determining weekly benefits. See Bell, supra; McNulty, supra; I.C. § 72-1367(4) (weekly benefits reduced for each dollar earned above one-half the regular weekly

benefit amount).

Bell, supra, involved facts similar to those presented here, where this Court reviewed Commission findings that claimant misrepresented his earnings and hours of work. The opinion explained that Bell would have received the pamphlet quoted supra in this brief, with identical warnings and other information. The opinion also explained that Bell would have had to certify that he had read the pamphlet. The arguments made by Bell in an attempt to explain away the inaccuracies of his reporting were found wanting just as the excuses proffered by Christy here:

Bell does not explain why he did not personally keep track of the hours he actually worked during the course of a week. While doing so might still have resulted in some inaccuracy, it would have been significantly more accurate than the means by which Bell chose to estimate his weekly gross wages. Assuming that the figures provided by the DOL are accurate, Bell's estimates were often more than just slightly off.

<u>Bell</u>, 157 Idaho at 747-748, 339 P.3d at 1151-1152. Bell had no explanation for his failure to make any attempt to determine his actual gross earnings. This Court found that the Commission's findings of willful misrepresentation were supported by substantial and competent evidence and affirmed its decision.

Like Bell, Christy received the same information and warnings from IDOL concerning the duty to accurately report earnings and to call the Department if any earnings were incorrectly reported. Christy proffered no credible explanation for his reporting failures. Moreover, the inconsistencies within Christy's own testimony undermined his credibility.

The instant case falls squarely within those cases where willfulness findings were upheld when the evidence showed that the claimant "was properly informed of his reporting obligation and his alleged misunderstanding lacked credibility." Bringman v. New Albertsons, Inc., 157 Idaho at 76-77, 334 P.3d at 267-268, citing McNulty, 152 Idaho at 587, 272 P.3d at 559.

Before concluding, a few observations should be made concerning arguments raised by Christy in his brief. Christy highlights various excerpts from the testimony of IDOL's unemployment claims specialist during cross-examination as to legal conclusions. From this he argues there was a dearth of evidence supporting a finding of willfulness. What Christy fails to mention, though, is that the underlying facts concerning Christy's misrepresentation of gross earnings were conceded by the parties, and the finding of willfulness was based in large measure upon the weakness of Christy's explanations. Those facts alone are relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept in finding Christy's acts and omissions were willful.

Christy also purports to dissect the findings and conclusions of the Appeals Examiner and re-form them into reversible error. These arguments are inapposite because the Commission reviewed this case *de novo*. Consequently, any claimed faulty reasoning of the Appeals Examiner is moot.

Christy creates another straw man argument when he lambasts testimony concerning a "pop-up" in the slide presentation about gross earnings that he would have viewed, and the fact that there was no documentary evidence of the actual

slide or image of the pop-up admitted to support the testimony. What Christy fails to mention, though, are the other slides, the booklet and the confirmation page that all were admitted without objection, which all apprised Christy of his duty to report his gross wages -- that is, his earnings before deductions.

Christy asserts that his protestations of an honest mistake below were uncontroverted and compel a finding in his favor. However, Christy ignores Cox, 144 Idaho at 158, 158 P.3d at 934, where this Court rejected a similar argument by a claimant who asserted the Commission's decision should be overturned because her testimony denied wrongdoing and there was no testimony to directly controvert her denial. Christy's argument also fails to mention -- as the Commission observed -- that even if there was a legal excuse based upon Christy's claimed reporting of net vs. gross income, this excuse did not explain the bulk of the reporting weeks where Christy's stated earnings were far from the mark of even net earnings. This argument also wholly ignores and offers no explanation for Christy's omission of 80 hours of wages at Consolidated Electrical from his reports.

Christy also has no answer to the reasoning of Commission's decision and, in particular, the questions it raised concerning his credibility, other than, perhaps, the weak and essentially unsubstantiated claim that he suffers from mental infirmities relating to his math skills and English comprehension. Finally, Christy argues there has been no evidence of motive or wrongful intent. This argument ignores McNulty, supra (willfulness "does not require any intent to

violate law, in the sense of having an evil or corrupt motive or intent").

Christy's underreported his gross earnings. It is beyond cavil that gross earnings are material facts. <u>Bell, supra; McNulty, supra</u>. The Commission based its finding of willfulness upon relevant evidence "that a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion." <u>Cox</u>, 144 Idaho at 156, 158 P.3d at 932. Consequently, the Commission's findings that Christy was ineligible for unemployment benefits for the weeks at issue should be upheld.

III.

This Court Should Deny Christy's Request for Attorney Fees, and Instead Award the Idaho Department of Labor its Attorney Fees and Costs on Appeal Pursuant to I.C. § 12-117(1)

Idaho Code § 12-117(1) provides as follows:

Unless otherwise provided by statute, in any proceeding involving as adverse parties a state agency or a political subdivision and a person, the state agency, political subdivision or the court hearing the proceeding, including on appeal, shall award the prevailing party reasonable attorney's fees, witness fees and other reasonable expenses, if it finds that the nonprevailing party acted without a reasonable basis in fact or law.

A request for attorney fees on appeal must be delineated in the issues section of the party's first brief and must set forth the legal basis for the request. I.A.R. 35(a)(5), -(b)(5), and 44(a).

Christy raised his claim for an award of attorney fees for the first time on appeal. See R., pp.12-14 (notice of appeal to Commission); pp.19-36 (Christy's brief before the Commission). Thus, only a claim for attorney fees on this appeal could

be made.

Christy's request for attorney fees should denied because neither the

Department nor the Commission "acted without a reasonable basis in fact or law"

and, it is respectfully submitted, at the end of the day Christy will not be the

prevailing party.

Because Christy's appeal does nothing more than ask this Court to reweigh

the evidence and supplant the Commission's determinations on credibility --

something settled case law dictates this Court may not do -- this appeal is without

reasonable basis in fact or law. Attorney fees and costs should be awarded against

Christy pursuant to the authorities cited above.

CONCLUSION

Substantial and competent evidence supports the Commission's finding that

Christy's willfully misrepresented his earnings. It decision finding Christy

ineligible for unemployment benefits for the work weeks that he willfully

underreported earnings should be affirmed.

Further, because Christy's appeal is without reasonable foundation in fact

or law, the Department should be awarded its attorney fees and costs on appeal.